
1 
 

Approved Meeting Minutes 
 
 

Public Body Procurement Workgroup 
 

Meeting # 1 
 

Tuesday, May 2, 2023, 1:00 p.m. 
House Room 1 

The Virginia State Capitol 
1000 Bank Street, Richmond, Virginia 23218 

 
http://dgs.virginia.gov/dgs/directors-office/procurement-workgroup/ 

 
 
The Public Body Procurement Workgroup (the Workgroup) met in-person in House Room 1 in 
the Capitol in Richmond, Virginia, with Joe Damico, Director of the Department of General 
Services (DGS), presiding. The meeting began with remarks from Mr. Damico, followed by 
discussion and recommendations for SB 272, public comment, and further discussion by the 
Workgroup members. Materials presented at the meeting are available through the Workgroup’s 
website. 
 
Workgroup members and representatives present at the meeting included Joe Damico 
(Department of General Services), Willis Morris (Department of Small Business and Supplier 
Diversity), Joshua Heslinga (Virginia Information Technologies Agency), Lisa Pride (Virginia 
Department of Transportation), Jonathan Howe (Department of Planning and Budget), Patricia 
Innocenti (Virginia Association of Governmental Procurement), John McHugh (Virginia 
Association of State Colleges and University Purchasing Professionals), Leslie Haley (Office of 
the Attorney General), Andrea Peeks (House Appropriations Committee), and Mike Tweedy 
(Senate Finance and Appropriations Committee), and Joanne Frye, representing the Division of 
Legislative Services. 
 

I. Call to Order; Remarks by Chair 
 

Joe Damico, Director 
Department of General Services 

 
Mr. Damico called the meeting to order and thanked the House Clerk’s Office for 
allowing the Workgroup to hold its meetings in House Room 1 in the Capital Building. 
He informed the Workgroup that this year he and Sandra Gill, Deputy Director of the 
Department of General Services, will alternate as Chair of the Workgroup.  

 
 
 
 

https://dgs.virginia.gov/dgs/directors-office/procurement-workgroup/
https://dgs.virginia.gov/dgs/directors-office/procurement-workgroup/


2 
 

 
II. Introduction of Workgroup Members, Representatives, and Staff 

 
 
 

III. Approval of Meeting Minutes from the November 28, 2022 Workgroup Meeting 
 

Mr. Tweedy made a motion to approve the meeting minutes from the November 28, 2022 
meeting of the Workgroup. The motion was seconded by Ms. Pride and unanimously 
approved by the Workgroup. 

 
IV. Recap of 2022 Work and Overview of Proposed 2023 Work Plan 
 

Next, Mr. Damico asked Ms. Gill to present a recap of the work accomplished by the 
Workgroup in 2022, as well as the proposed workplan for the Workgroup’s 2023 studies.  
 
 Mr. Gill reminded the group that two bills were originally referred to the Workgroup by 
the General Assembly in 2022 (SB 550 and SB 575), and that a third bill was referred to 
the Workgroup later in the year (SB 272). Ms. Gill provided a summary of the work 
undertaken by the Workgroup related to SB 575 (which pertained to the use of a total cost 
of ownership calculator for medium-duty and heavy-duty vehicles) and SB 550 (which 
pertained to payment of subcontractors). Ms. Gill noted that two bills (SB 1313 and SB 
2500) were introduced and passed by the General Assembly during the 2023 Session that 
implemented the Workgroup’s recommendations on SB 550. 
 
Moving to the proposed 2023 work plan, Ms. Gill provided an overview of the four new 
bills that were referred to the Workgroup by the General Assembly during the 2023 
Session: SB 859, patroned by Senator Cosgrove; SB 912, patroned by Senator Ruff; SB 
954, patroned by Senator Petersen; and SB 1115, patroned by Senator DeSteph. She 
stated that the proposed work plan includes tentative dates for six additional meetings for 
the workgroup to complete its studies of these four bills.   

 
V. Consideration and Discussion of Public Comment, Presentations, and Other 

Information Received by the Workgroup on SB 272 
 

Ms. Gill noted that workgroup began its study of SB 272 at its last meeting on November 
28, 2022. She provided the Workgroup with an overview of the information that was 
shared with the Workgroup on SB 272 at that meeting by stakeholders and subject matter 
experts. She also noted that since the last meeting DGS staff conducted a survey of local 
governments to determine the amount of concrete they use, but only six responses to the 
survey were received.  
 
She then presented the Workgroup with several considerations for it to discuss as 
possible recommendations on SB 272. Those consideration were: (1) codify procurement 
preferences and initiatives in the bill for low carbon concrete, (2) address the issue with 
policy through preferences or incentives, (3) not make changes to the law or implement 



3 
 

policy because the industry is already moving towards low carbon concrete, (4) create tax 
incentives for the industry to move towards low carbon concrete, or (5) consider whether 
the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality should regulate CO2 emissions for 
cement and concrete.   
 
Mr. Damico asked Ms. Gill to clarify which agencies would be impacted by the bill as 
introduced. She stated that the bill amends the DGS code section, therefore agencies 
under DGS purview would be impacted and it would be DGS’ responsibility to establish 
policy. Mr. Damico asked Ms. Gill for clarification as to how the Virginia Department of 
Transportation (VDOT) would be impacted by the bill, and she responded that the bill 
does not specifically exclude roads and bridges, however based on DGS’ enabling 
legislation there could be an interpretation that roads and bridges are not under DGS’ 
authority. Mr. Damico then confirmed with Ms. Gill that testimony provided to the 
Workgroup at its previous meeting indicated that VDOT uses approximately six percent 
of the total amount of concrete used in Virginia each year, and that DGS uses 
approximately one-half of one percent of the total amount of concrete used in Virginia 
each year. 
 
Mr. Damico asked the Workgroup if they have any thoughts or comments. Ms. Pride 
stated that VDOT has been working diligently for several years to allow the use of lower 
carbon concrete in its specifications and to work with the industry to continue to lower 
the amount of carbon associated with the concrete it uses in its projects. She indicated 
that she would like the Workgroup to move forward with the third recommendation 
presented by Ms. Gill, which was to not impose additional requirements on the industry 
because they are already making progress on this issue and VDOT has also been moving 
in the right direction.  She also reiterated how small the amount of concrete used by state 
agencies is compared to the private sector.   
 
Mr. Damico asked Ms. Gill about DEQ’s testimony at the previous meeting and whether 
they stated that they currently monitor CO2 emissions from the production of cement and 
concrete. She stated that DEQ testified that they do not current regulate CO2 emissions 
from the production of cement and concrete. He then asked if there was any indication in 
the previous meeting as two whether DEQ is in a position to monitor the industry’s 
commitment to move toward a CO2 emissions-free cement and concrete manufacturing 
process. Ms. Gill stated the DEQ did not testify that they have any intent to regulate, 
monitor, or track CO2 emissions from the production of cement and concrete. Mr. 
Damico asked the Workgroup members whether they feel that it would be appropriate to 
ask DEQ if they could monitor and report on the CO2 emissions from the production of 
cement and concrete in order to track the industry’s process toward moving towards 
lower carbon concrete. Mr. Heslinga sought clarification as to whether Mr. Damico is 
contemplating asking DEQ to monitor the industry’s progress as opposed to affirmatively 
regulation the industry’s CO2 emissions. Mr. Damico answered in the affirmative.  
 

 
 
 



4 
 

VI. Findings and Recommendations on SB 272 
 

Mr. Damico asked Ms. Pride to restate her recommendation. Ms. Pride stated that she 
recommends that the Workgroup allow VDOT to continue the work that has done 
regarding permitting the use of lower carbon concrete in its specifications and allow the 
industry to continue the progress that it has made in reducing the amount of carbon in 
concrete, allow those two things to be the drivers of the reduction of carbon in concrete. 
Mr. Heslinga stated he would second the recommendation and sought clarification on the 
process of finalizing the recommendation. Mr. Damico called for a vote of the 
Workgroup. Prior to the voting Mr. Morris asked for clarification as to whether there 
would be voluntary reporting by VDOT and/or the industry on progress towards this 
initiative. Ms. Pride stated VDOT does not currently do such reporting, but they keep 
track of their specifications and could report on those changes. The Workgroup voted in 
favor of the recommendation made by Ms. Pride1. Next, Mr. Damico asked the 
Workgroup for approval to engage DEQ regarding its capacity to monitor the industry’s 
progress towards producing emissions-free cement. The Workgroup unanimously 
approved his request.   

 
VII. Public Comment 

 
The first stakeholder to comment was Walton Shephard with the Natural Resources 
Defense Council. Mr. Shephard stated that he wanted to clarify that the bill never 
contemplated imposing any requirements and that it only contemplated rewarding 
voluntary actions that the industry is indeed already taking. He asked the state to 
recognize those actions by codifying provisions that would use the state’s purchasing 
power to show a preference for cleaner concrete or cement similar to provisions 
implemented in New Jersey. He acknowledged that Virginia does allow the use of cleaner 
cement and concrete but stressed that he would like the state proactively encourage its 
use.  
 
Mr. Morris asked Mr. Shelton for clarification regarding the voluntary rewards system. 
Mr. Shephard responded that when bids come in and a particular bidder’s concrete is 
verified to be cleaner than average, such bidder would receive a slight bonus in the bid 
stack. Mr. Damico asked for clarification as to how such a preference would work if there 
is one cement manufacturer in Virginia, and further asked about the potential cost 
impacts of bringing in lower carbon concrete from manufacturers located outside of 
Virginia. Mr. Shelton responded that he is not sure of the answers to such questions, but 
that he assumes that theoretically such procurement preference would still incentivize 
Virginia’s one manufacturer to clean up its production process because the state could 
purchase cement from a producer in Maryland or North Carolina instead of the one 
manufacturer in Virginia. 
 

 
1  The votes on recommendation the recommendation were as follows: Yes – Patricia Innocenti, John McHugh, 
Jonathan Howe, Joe Damico, Lisa Pride, and Joshua Heslinga, Willis Morris; Abstain – Andrea Peeks, Mike 
Tweedy, Leslie Haley, and Joanne Frye 



5 
 

The second stakeholder to comment was Kisia Kimmons, a technical services manager 
with Roanoke Cement. Ms. Kimmons confirmed that Roanoke Cement is the only cement 
manufacturer in Virginia, but there are also several producers from outside of the state 
that deliver product within the state that also provide lower carbon cement products. She 
stated that such other products come from places such as South Carolina and various 
locations in the North East, and that some are imported.  
 
Mr. McHugh asked whether low carbon concrete is more expensive than traditional 
concrete. Ms. Kimmons responded that typically in many markets Type IL cement has 
cost the same as traditional Type I/II concrete and that it has been a one-to-one 
replacement. Ms. Frye asked whether the low carbon cement produced by Roanoke 
Cement is lower in carbon than the other low carbon cement products on the market. Ms. 
Kimmons responded that it can vary depending on the product. Mr. Heslinga asked if 
there are existing reporting on the adoption of lower carbon cement. Ms. Kimmons stated 
that she is not aware of any required reporting, however from a manufacturing 
perspective it is not difficult for them to provide replacement factor information. Mr. 
Morris asked Ms. Kimmons for clarification that Roanoke Cement is the only cement 
manufacturer in Virginia, which she confirmed, and asked whether they have experienced 
any supply chain challenges. Ms. Kimmons responded that they are not experiencing any 
such challenges at this time, and reiterated that the state has resources from other 
facilities as well that feed into this market. 
 
The third stakeholder to comment was Phil Abraham with the Vectre Corporation. Mr. 
Abraham spoke to the Workgroup concerning its study of SB 550 last year and the 
legislation subsequently passed by the General Assembly during the 2023 Session (SB 
1313 and HB 2500) implementing recommendations made by the Workgroup on SB 550. 
He expressed concern that SB 1313 and SB 2500 require contractors on public 
construction contracts to make payment to their subcontractors within 60 days of 
completion of their work regardless of whether such a contractor has received payment 
from the state or local government, as applicable, for such work. He shared that general 
contractors are concerned about how this requirement would impact them in situations in 
which they have not been paid by the state or local government and in which there has 
been no fault on the part of the contractor that would justify the state or local government 
to withhold such payment. Mr. Abraham stated that he would like to work with the 
Workgroup on a tweak to the law to address this concern. 
 
Ms. Peeks asked Mr. Abraham whether the issue he described has occurred, or whether 
he is looking to address this potential situation in the event that it might occur. He stated 
that it is rare, but it has occurred. 
 
Mr. Shephard, the first stakeholder to comment, spoke to the Workgroup again to clarify 
that cement is a component of concrete, so while the concrete used on a specific project is 
usually made locally to a project’s location, the cement used in such concrete does not 
necessarily have to have been produced locally to the project’s location.  
 
 



6 
 

 
 

VIII. Discussion 
 
Mr. Tweedy asked if either VDOT or DGS track how much low carbon concrete they 
use. Both DGS and VDOT stated that they do not currently track this information.  
 

IX. Adjournment 
 
Mr. Damico adjourned the meeting at 1:53 p.m. and noted that the Workgroup’s next 
meeting is tentatively scheduled for May 23, 2023. He stated, however, that this date may 
change and that once staff has finalized the meeting date and location such information 
will be announced to the Workgroup members and stakeholders.   

 
 

For more information, see the Workgroup’s website or contact that Workgroup’s staff at 
pwg@dgs.virginia.gov.  
 
 
 
 

https://dgs.virginia.gov/dgs/directors-office/procurement-workgroup/
mailto:pwg@dgs.virginia.gov

